© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Cytarabine Formulations

Akinobu Hamada,¹ Takeo Kawaguchi² and Masahiro Nakano¹

- 1 Department of Pharmacy, Kumamoto University Hospital, Kumamoto, Japan
- 2 Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Josai University, Saitma, Japan

Contents

Abstract
1. Approaches to Improving the Pharmacokinetics of Cytarabine
2. Emulsions
3. Liposomes
3.1 Unmodified Cytarabine in Liposomes
3.2 Polymer-Coated Liposomes
3.3 'Stealth' Liposomes
3.4 Lipophilic Cytarabine Derivatives in Liposomes
4. Cytarabine Liposome
4.1 Preclinical Studies
4.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetic Studies
4.3 Efficacy and Adverse Effects
5. Cytarabine Derivatives
5.1 Cytarabine Ocfosfate
5.2 Enocitabine
5.3 Alkyl Derivatives
6. Conclusion

Abstract

Cytarabine (cytosine arabinoside, Ara-C) is an effective chemotherapeutic agent for the treatment of acute myelogenous leukaemia and lymphocytic leukaemias. As cytarabine is an S-phase-specific drug, prolonged exposure of cells to cytotoxic concentrations is critical to achieve maximum cytotoxic activity. However, the activity of cytarabine is decreased by its rapid deamination to the biologically inactive metabolite uracil arabinoside. This rapid deamination is the reason for the ongoing search for effective formulations and derivatives of cytarabine that cannot be deaminated and exhibit better pharmacokinetic parameters.

Protection of cytarabine from fast degradation and elimination has been investigated by encapsulating the drug into pharmaceutically acceptable carriers. Cytarabine derivatives have shown promise *in vitro* and in animal models. For example, ancitabine (cyclocytidine), enocitabine and cytarabine ocfosfate have been used clinically in Japan. Cytarabine encapsulated into multivesicular liposomes has been approved in several countries for the intrathecal treatment of lymphomatous meningitis. Although many compounds have been investigated, few cytarabine derivatives are currently available for clinical use. Further research is needed to improve the efficacy of cytarabine against haematological and solid tumours.

Cytarabine $(1-\beta-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine,$ cytosine arabinoside, Ara-C; figure 1) is an effective chemotherapeutic agent for the treatment of acute myelogenous leukaemia and lymphocytic leukaemia.^[1-3] It has often been utilised in combination chemotherapy, for example in combination with fluorouracil, methotrexate and dexamethasone, against solid tumours and leukaemias. Cytarabine is a nucleoside analogue of deoxycytidine in which the ribose sugar has been replaced with an arabinose sugar. Cytarabine has the same molecular weight as cytidine and differs in that the 2' hydroxyl group is oriented in the trans position, resulting in metabolism similar to that of a deoxyribose sugar.^[4] Cytarabine penetrates cells by a carrier-mediated process that is shared by other nucleosides.^[5,6] As cytarabine is a cell cycledependent drug, prolonged exposure of cells to cytotoxic concentrations is critical to achieve maximum cytotoxic activity. In vitro studies suggest that maximum cytotoxic activity is achieved with administration of cytarabine to reach concentrations ≥ 0.1 mg/L that are maintained for at least 24 hours.^[7]

Cytarabine must be phosphorylated intracellularly to a nucleotide (cytarabine 5'-triphosphate, Ara-CTP) before it can exert its cytotoxic effect (figure 2). Accumulation of cytarabine 5'-triphosphate appears to be saturated at plasma concentrations of cytarabine exceeding 8 to 10 μ mol/L.^[8] Cytarabine 5'-triphosphate inhibits DNA synthesis by inhibiting DNA polymerases and terminating DNA chain elongation.^[9] Although the precise mechanism of cell death caused by cytarabine 5'-triphosphate is not completely understood, it is clear that both concentration and duration of exposure are critical for cytotoxicity.

In clinical use, however, the activity of cytarabine is decreased by its rapid deamination by cytidine deaminase to a biologically inactive metabolite, 1- β -D-arabinofuranosyluracil (uracil arabinoside, Ara-U), and rapid elimination (figure 2).^[8] In the systemic circulation, cytarabine is rapidly catabolised to uracil arabinoside, which is subsequently eliminated in the urine. Systemic elimination of cytarabine is biphasic, with an initial plasma halflife ($t_{1/2\alpha}$) of 7 to 20 minutes and a terminal half-life ($t_{1/2\beta}$) of 2 to 3 hours.^[8]

In practical use in clinical chemotherapy, repetitive administration schedules or continuous intravenous infusion are considered to be essential. Typically, cytarabine is administered continuously for 5 days as a conventional standard dose schedule of 100 mg/m^{2[10]} or as a high dose regimen of 1 to 3 g/m^{2,[11,12]}

In contrast, following intrathecal administration of cytarabine, there is minimal conversion to uracil arabinoside in the CNS because of the low activity of cytidine deaminase in the brain and CSF. Elimination of cytarabine from the CSF is similar to CSF bulk flow (0.42 ml/min), and the $t_{2\beta}$ in the CSF is 3 to 4 hours.^[13]

1. Approaches to Improving the Pharmacokinetics of Cytarabine

Cytarabine is poorly retained in blood and tissues, prompting the search for effective formulations and derivatives of cytarabine that cannot be deaminated and exhibit better pharmacokinetic parameters. Since the antitumour effect of cytarabine has been correlated with longer half-life, inhibition of cytidine deaminase activity might enhance the cytotoxic activity of cytarabine. Tetrahydrouridine (THU), a potent inhibitor of cytidine deaminase, has been shown to increase the antitumour activity of cytarabine both in vivo and in vitro.[14,15] Kreis et al.^[15] treated patients with solid tumours with THU at 10 to 350 mg/m² with infusions of cytarabine at 25 to 100 mg/m². When cytarabine doses of 50, 75 and 100 mg/m² were coadministered with THU 250 or 350 mg/m², plasma cytarabine exposure [peak concentration (C_{max}) and area under



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of cytarabine and its derivatives. **1** = cytarabine (1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, Ara-C); **2** = uracil arabinoside (1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, Ara-U); **3** = cytarabine ocfosfate (1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine-5'-stearylphosphate); **4** = NHAC (*N*⁴-hexadecyl-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, n = 16) and NOAC (*N*⁴-octadecyl-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, n = 18); **5** = PL-AC (*N*⁴-palmitoyl-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, n = 14) and enocitabine (*N*⁴-behenoyl-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, n = 20); **6** = Ara-CDP-L-dipalmitin (1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine-5'-diphosphate-L-1, 2-dipalmitin); **7** = ancitabine (2,2'-anhydro-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine).

707



Fig. 2. Metabolic pathway of cytarabine and strategies for the development of sustained release formulations. Ara-CDP = cytarabine 5'-diphosphate; Ara-CMP = cytarabine 5'-monophosphate; Ara-CTP = cytarabine 5'-triphosphate; Ara-U = uracil arabinoside; Ara-UMP = uracil arabinoside 5'-monophosphate.

the concentration-time curve (AUC)] were significantly increased. In contrast, total body clearance and volume of distribution decreased significantly. This combination therapy provides plasma cytarabine concentrations ($\geq 10 \ \mu \text{mol/L}$) comparable to those after high dose cytarabine (1 g/m²). The toxicity of this combination treatment was predominantly confined to bone marrow and gastrointestinal effects.

In other approaches, protection from rapid degradation and elimination was investigated by encapsulating the drug into pharmaceutically acceptable carriers, such as liposomes (figure 2 and table I).^[16-20] However, significant protection from deamination and thus improvement of the antitumour activity of cytarabine could not be achieved, mainly due to leakage (initial burst) of cytarabine from liposomes, which is caused by the well-characterised instability of liposomes *in vivo*.^[21] Modification of liposomes with polyethylene glycol (PEG)-containing lipids greatly enhances their stability in the circulation.^[22] Allen et al.^[23] demonstrated the cytotoxic activity of cytarabine entrapped in PEG-modified small unila-

mellar liposomes (termed 'stealth' liposomes) in mice. The resulting antitumour effect of cytarabine encapsulated within long-circulating PEG liposomes was superior to those of other liposome formulations or of the free drug. Kim et al.^[24] also demonstrated prolongation of therapeutic cytarabine concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) by encapsulation of the drug into multivesicular liposomes (DepoCytTM)¹ [see section 4].^[25-27]

Improvement of the cytostatic efficacy of cytarabine can also be achieved by chemical modification (figure 1, table I). Although ancitabine (2, 2'- anhydro- 1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, cyclocytidine, cyclo-C) and enocitabine (N^4 -behenoyl-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, BH-AC) have been used clinically in Japan,^[56-58,60,61] complicated parenteral procedures such as continuous infusion are still necessary. Hori et al.^[54,55] reported that N^4 -palmitoyl-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine (PL-AC), an analogue of cytarabine, exhibited marked activity against tumours when given orally. Kodama et al.^[62,63] demonstrated the effi-

¹ Use of tradenames is for product identification only and does not imply endorsement.

Active agent	Formulation	Route	Animal studies	Clinical trials (phase)	Regulatory approval	References
Unmodified cytarabin	e					
Cytarabine	Emulsion	In vitro only				28-30
Cytarabine	Liposome	Intravenous	+			16-22,31,32
Cytarabine	Stealth liposome	Intravenous	+			23
Cytarabine	Polymer-coated liposome	Intravenous	+			33
Cytarabine	Liposome	Intravitreal	+			34
Cytarabine	Liposome	Intrathecal	+	I, II, III	Launch	25-27,35-39
Cytarabine derivatives	6					
NOAC, NHAC	Liposome	Intravenous	+			40-48
NOAC, NHAC	Liposome	Oral	+			49
Ocd-Grop-Ara-C	Liposome	Oral	+			50,51
Ara-CDP-L-dipalmitin	Liposome	Intravenous	+			31
Ara-CDP-DL-PTBA	Micelle	Intravenous	+			32,52,53
PL-AC	Suspension	Oral	+	I, II		54,55
Enocitabine	Lyophilisation	Intravenous	+	I, II, III	Launch	56-60
Ancitabine	Solution	Intravenous	+	I, II, III	Launch	61
Cytarabine ocfosfate	Capsule	Oral	+	I, II, III	Launch	62-70

Table I. Summary of developmental status of cytarabine sustained-release formulations. A blank cell indicates no studies reported

Ara-CDP-DL-PTBA = 1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine 5'-diphosphate-*rac*-1-*S*-octadecyl-2-*O*-palmitoyl-1-thioglycero/; **Ara-CDP-L-dipalmitin** = 1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine-5'-diphosphate-L-1,2-dipalmitin; **NHAC** = N^4 -hexadecyl-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine; **NOAC** = N^4 -octadecyl-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine; **Ocd-Grop-Ara-C** = (1-octadecylglycero-3-phospho)-cytarabine; **PL-AC** = N^4 -palmitoyl-1- β -D-arabinofuranosylcytosine; **+** indicates positive results.

cacy of cytarabine ocfosfate $(1-\beta-D-arabinofurano-sylcytosine-5'-stearylphosphate)$ against L1210 leukaemia in mice after oral administration.

A large number of other N^4 -derivatives of cytarabine have been synthesised with the aim of increasing cytotoxic activity by protecting from deamination and altering pharmacokinetic properties.^[71,72] Although short-chain modifications of cytarabine at the N⁴-amino group generally result in weak enhancement of cytotoxicity, lipophilic derivatives with long-chain fatty acids showed strong antitumour activity in murine tumour models.^[56,73,74] Rubas et al.^[75] demonstrated that N^4 acyl derivatives incorporated into the membranes of small unilamellar liposomes were active against murine L1210 leukaemia and B16 cells. However, protection against enzymatic deamination was only partially achieved with the modification, and sufficient effect was not observed in a pilot phase I/II study.^[76] To obtain a compound with higher stability, an N^4 -alkyl cytarabine derivative, N^4 hexadecyl -1- β- D- arabinofuranosylcytosine

(NHAC), was synthesised.^[77] Because of the very low aqueous solubility of NHAC, this long-chain alkyl derivative was incorporated into lipid membranes of small unilamellar liposomes composed of soy phosphatidylcholine and cholesterol to allow its parenteral administration. These liposomal preparations exerted significantly higher cytotoxic activities in the L1210 leukaemia model at lower concentrations. Furthermore, the derivatives had a strong cytotoxic effect when administered as single doses, suggesting a long-lasting effect.

This article provides a review of the pharmacokinetics of the most promising sustained release formulations of cytarabine and its derivatives that have shown efficacy against blood and solid tumours.

2. Emulsions

Water-in-oil-in-water (w/o/w) double emulsions have been used to prolong drug release, to immobilise enzymes, and to treat overdosage. Hashida et al.^[78,79] stabilised a water-in-oil emulsion and a w/o/w double emulsion by gelling the inner aqueous phase, and Fukushima et al.^[28] used the technique to prepare a stable w/o/w double emulsion containing cytarabine. Okochi and Nakano^[29] showed that cytarabine release from an emulsion prepared by the membrane method was slower than that from an emulsion prepared by the stirring method. This membrane method was also found to be useful for preparation of w/o/w emulsions that are prepared by a two-step emulsification procedure.

The sustained release of cytarabine from w/o/w double emulsions was successful *in vitro*. Release was enhanced with increase either in the volume of the inner aqueous phase or in the concentration of the drug. Benoy et al.^[30] demonstrated that the antitumour effect of cytarabine in mice could be enhanced by preparation of a w/o/w emulsion. However, w/o/w emulsions show poor stability (only 2 or 3 days), and clinical trials have not been carried out.

3. Liposomes

Liposomes are microscopic particles of lipid bilayer membrane that enclose an aqueous internal compartment. This approach offers great potential for improving cancer chemotherapy.^[80] The lipid membranes are composed of amphipathic lipids identical to cell membranes. The encapsulated drugs partition between the aqueous internal chambers and lipid bilayers, hydrophilic molecules into the former and hydrophobic molecules into the latter. Encapsulation in liposomes modifies pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution, which may increase the therapeutic index of drugs.

Liposomal drugs such as amphotericin have proved significantly more effective than conventional drugs in therapy of certain parasitic and fungal diseases. Liposomal cytarabine has been shown to enhance significantly the survival time of mice bearing L1210 leukaemia.^[16,17] This increased antitumour activity can be attributed to protection of cytarabine from rapid degradation in the blood and to its slow release from the liposomes.

3.1 Unmodified Cytarabine in Liposomes

Several investigators have demonstrated the efficacy of unmodified cytarabine in liposomes in animal model studies in vivo. Kobayashi et al.[16,17] showed that encapsulation of cytarabine into liposomes increased efficacy against tumours in vivo. In this study, cytarabine was encapsulated in four different types of liposomes to compare their antitumour effect on mouse leukaemia L1210 cells inoculated into CD2F mice with that of free cytarabine. The antitumour activity of cytarabine was markedly enhanced by encapsulation in the liposomes. Among the four types of liposomes, a physically stable and positively charged liposome consisting of sphingomyelin, stearylamine and cholesterol (20:2:15 molar ratio) most effectively enhanced the effect of cytarabine.

Hong and Mayhew^[35] reported the therapeutic effects of liposomal cytarabine against intracranially inoculated L1210 leukaemia in mice. Intracranially administered liposomal cytarabine was more effective than intravenous liposomal cytarabine. A single intravenous dose of liposomal cytarabine was therapeutically superior to a 5-day intravenous infusion of free cytarabine. Intracranial or intravenous liposomal cytarabine at therapeutic doses resulted in less systemic toxicity than intravenous infusion of free cytarabine, suggesting the possible use of liposomal cytarabine as an adjunct to treatment of leukaemia cells in the CNS.

These observations indicated that liposomal cytarabine is protected from deamination in the liver, and is slowly released from liposomes in liver and spleen. Hunt et al.^[81] showed in mice that the initial trapping of large multilamellar vesicles (MLV) during first passage in the lung was consistent with subsequent binding and retention. Release of cytarabine from large or small MLV in the lung is apparently slow relative to metabolism. Richardson et al.^[82] showed that liposomal cytarabine was able to overcome drug resistance *in vitro*. Ganapathi et al.^[83] showed that cytarabine could be encapsulated in anionic multilamellar liposomes prepared with different lecithin and cholesterol ratios, and that *in vivo* antitumour activity

in mice bearing L1210 leukaemia was influenced by the cholesterol content of the liposomal lipid bilayer. It was also found in vitrectomised and nonvitrectomised eyes that liposomal cytarabine decreased the cytotoxicity of cytarabine injected intravitreally.^[34]

Delivery of liposomal cytarabine by direct injection into the CNS markedly increased its halflife^[36] and efficacy^[35] in animal models compared with unencapsulated cytarabine. Kim et al.^[36] reported the use of multivesicular liposomes as a slow-release depot of cytarabine for intrathecal administration to rats. Following intrathecal administration of liposomal encapsulated drug, the intrathecal half-life of cytarabine was 148 hours, in contrast to 2.7 hours for unencapsulated drug. This extended half-life may be attributable to a sustainedrelease effect as well as protection from cytidine deaminase. The prolonged drug concentration may increase efficacy, and the limited C_{max} may decrease toxicity.

Prolonged therapeutic concentrations of cytarabine in human CSF are obtained after a single injection of liposomal cytarabine in multivesicular liposomes, and a high response rate was shown in patients with neoplastic meningitis.^[25-27,37] This preparation is discussed further in section 4.

3.2 Polymer-Coated Liposomes

Sehgal and Rogers^[33] reported that polymer coating improved liposome stability and the release profile of cytarabine. Liposomes of dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine or dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine, cholesterol and dicetylphosphate containing cytarabine were prepared at pH 4.5 and subsequently coated with a chemically modified polysaccharide, *O*-palmitoylpullulan. Liposomes coated with *O*-palmitoylpullulan may increase the potential of usage of liposomes as a drug delivery system in harsh environments such as encountered after oral administration, although the magnitude of the effect was dependent on the liposome composition.

3.3 `Stealth' Liposomes

Encapsulation of cytarabine into 'stealth' liposomes increased its circulation time in an animal model. Allen et al.^[23] reported that prolonged circulation time and dose-independent pharmacokinetics have been observed for cytarabine in mice bearing L1210 leukaemia.

3.4 Lipophilic Cytarabine Derivatives in Liposomes

Lipophilic derivatives of cytarabine have been shown to increase efficacy against animal tumours.^[31,40-42,45-47,49-51,73,84-86] Koller-Lucae et al.^[40] demonstrated in mice that N^4 -octadecyl-1- β -Darabinofuranosylcytosine (NOAC) behaved pharmacokinetically differently from cytarabine and suggested that its affinity for low-density lipoproteins might be advantageous in tumour therapy. N^4 -Acyl derivatives of cytarabine, incorporated into the membranes of small unilamellar liposomes, were active against murine L1210 leukaemia and B16 melanoma at lower concentrations when compared with that of unmodified cytarabine. NOAC and NHAC show low aqueous solubility, so they can be incorporated into the lipid membranes of small unilamellar liposomes, allowing their parenteral administration. Liposomal preparations of NHAC and NOAC exerted significantly higher cytotoxic activities in murine L1210 leukaemia than cytarabine alone. Nishikawa et al.^[86] reported a further comparison of the pharmacokinetic parameters of NOAC and cytarabine in mice, and revealed that NOAC is eliminated from the kidney and the liver, whereas cytarabine is excreted mainly in urine.

NHAC and NOAC are highly cytostatic when administered orally as liposome formulations.^[49] Horber et al.^[45-47] reported that the pharmacokinetic properties and interactions with blood components of NHAC incorporated into liposomes. When incubated with human blood, NHAC was transferred from the liposomes to plasma proteins, particularly albumin and high and low density lipoproteins, at about 47% efficiency. The remaining part of NHAC was bound to erythrocytes (50%) and to leucocytes (3%). Compared with cytarabine, NHAC in liposome formulations was highly resistant to deamination, resulting in concentrations of uracil arabinoside 42 and 10 times lower in plasma and liver microsomes, respectively.

Schwendener et al.^[50,51] reported the use of another lipophilic derivative, (1-octadecylglycero-3phospho)-cytarabine, as a liposomal formulation in the treatment of mice bearing Lewis lung carcinoma. Rahman et al.^[31] reported the activity of liposomal 1- β - D -arabinofuranosylcytosine -5'diphosphate-L-1,2-dipalmitin (Ara-CDP-L-dipalmitin) when administered intravenously to mice bearing Lewis lung carcinoma. Ara-CDP-L-dipalmitin given as a single dose was more effective than the same dose divided into five injections; however, no cures have been obtained by treatment with Ara-CDP-L-dipalmitin alone.

4. Cytarabine Liposome

Intrathecal chemotherapy may be advantageous in the treatment of neoplastic meningitis.^[87] The efficacy of systemic chemotherapeutic agents in the treatment of neoplastic meningitis is limited by the poor penetration of chemotherapeutic agents across the blood-brain barrier.^[88] Direct intrathecal administration of cytarabine has become the standard treatment for neoplastic meningitis, but this approach is limited by the short half-life of cytarabine in the CSF.[89] Cytarabine encapsulated in multivesicular liposomes may offer a therapeutic advantage in the treatment of neoplastic meningitis. This formulation, DepoCyt[™],^[36,37] is an injectable suspension of cytarabine encapsulated into multivesicular lipid-based particles. DepoCyt™ consists of microscopic (3 to 30µm) spherical particles composed of numerous nonconcentric internal aqueous chambers containing cytarabine. Single intrathecal administration of DepoCytTM maintains cytotoxic concentrations of cytarabine in the CSF for 2 weeks.

4.1 Preclinical Studies

In vivo studies using mice^[36,90] revealed that, following either subcutaneous or intraperitoneal injection of DepoCytTM, the serum half-life of cytarabine is significantly prolonged when compared with that of unencapsulated cytarabine. Following subcutaneous administration of Depo-CytTM, the serum half-life of cytarabine was 4 days compared with 10 minutes for unencapsulated cytarabine. The serum half-life after intraperitoneal administration of DepoCytTM was 21 hours compared with 16 minutes for unencapsulated cytarabine. Unbound cytarabine concentrations in the CSF exceeded the minimal *in vitro* cytotoxic concentration of 0.1 mg/L for at least 14 days after intrathecal injection of DepoCytTM.^[87]

A pharmacokinetic advantage of DepoCytTM was also demonstrated following intrathecal administration.^[24] Animals received a single injection of either DepoCytTM 2mg or cytarabine 2mg as a control. The $t_{2\beta}$ of cytarabine was 156 hours following injection of DepoCytTM compared with only 0.74 hour for cytarabine alone. A single intrathecal injection of DepoCytTM can maintain a therapeutic drug concentration in the CSF for a prolonged period.

4.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetic Studies

In a dose-ranging pharmacokinetic study, patients with neoplastic meningitis received Depo-CytTM at doses ranging from 12.5 to 125mg via Ommaya reservoir or lumbar puncture. Following intrathecal administration of 50mg of Depo-CytTM, the elimination of cytarabine from the ventricular CSF was biexponential, with $t_{1/2\beta}$ of 5.5 hours and $t_{1/2\beta}$ of 80 hours. The $t_{1/2\beta}$ of cytarabine increased >20-fold following administration of DepoCytTM compared with that of cytarabine.^[26] The cytarabine concentrations in the ventricular CSF were maintained above the cytotoxic concentration of 0.1 mg/L for approximately 2 weeks after intraventricular administration of DepoCytTM doses greater than 25mg.^[25-27]

4.3 Efficacy and Adverse Effects

Some patients with positive CSF cytologies achieved a complete cytological response with DepoCyt[™] therapy.^[89,90] The median duration of complete cytological response was 111 days. A randomised trial compared the safety and efficacy of intrathecal DepoCyt[™] 50mg once every 2 weeks with intrathecal free cytarabine 5mg twice weekly in 28 patients with neoplastic meningitis resulting from solid tumours.^[38] Of the patients treated with intrathecal DepoCyt[™], 71% had a complete response compared with 15% of patients treated with intrathecal cytarabine. Time to neurological progression (median 78.5 vs 42 days) and median survival (99.5 vs 63 days) tended to be improved in patients treated with DepoCytTM compared with unencapsulated cytarabine.^[39]

The efficacy of intrathecal DepoCyt[™] versus methotrexate was investigated in patients with neoplastic meningitis secondary to solid tumours.^[39] During the induction phase, patients received either DepoCytTM (50mg once every 2 weeks) or methotrexate (10mg twice weekly). During the consolidation phase, DepoCyt[™] was administered every 2 weeks for 1 month and then every 4 weeks for 2 months, whereas methotrexate was given every week for 1 month, and then every 2 weeks for 2 months. Complete responses were seen in 26% of DepoCyt[™] recipients compared with 20% of methotrexate recipients. The median time to clinical progression was 58 days for patients receiving DepoCyt[™] compared with 30 days for those receiving methotrexate.

Drug-induced chemical arachnoiditis, such as fever, headache, back and/or neck pain and nausea or vomiting was common in patients receiving DepoCytTM.^[25] These adverse events were temporary and were manageable with dexamethasone 2 to 4mg twice daily for 5 days, starting on the day of DepoCytTM administration.^[39]

5. Cytarabine Derivatives

The usefulness of cytarabine is limited by its rapid deamination to the biologically inactive me-

tabolite uracil arabinoside. The relatively high concentrations of 2'-deoxycytidine deaminase activity have been suggested as one of the reasons why cytarabine is not effective against solid tumours.^[9] To protect the drug from deamination, a large number of chemical modifications of cytarabine have been tested.^[54-58,60-63,71-74] Among these, ancitabine and enocitabine have been used clinically in Japan (see table I).^[56,57,61]

In animal studies, Hori et al.^[54,55] reported that PL-AC exhibited marked activity against tumours when given orally. After a single oral dose of a suspension of PL-AC at a therapeutic dose of 350 µmol/kg, a high concentration of the drug was found in the liver, lung and plasma of portal venous blood. The concentration of the drug in other tissues and peripheral plasma was rather low. The two main metabolites, cytarabine and uracil arabinoside, were found in plasma and various tissues. The plasma cytarabine concentration was maintained for at least 6 hours in the range of 2.3 to 5.1 µmol/L after oral administration of PL-AC 350 µmol/kg. On the other hand, when an equimolar amount of cytarabine was given, the plasma concentrations decreased rapidly; from 2 to 6 hours after administration, the concentration (1.0 to 4.1 µmol/L) was less than that obtained with PL-AC. These results suggest that PL-AC administered orally is absorbed intact from the gastrointestinal tract and that the absorbed compound is a depot form of cytarabine, releasing cytarabine over a prolonged period of time.

Conjugates of cytarabine with polysaccharides such as polygalacturonic acid and carboxymethylated yeast β -D-glucan have been tested for their antileukaemic activity.^[48] 1- β -D-Arabinofuranosylcytosine 5'-diphosphate- *rac*-1-S-octadecyl-2-*O*palmitoyl-1-thioglycerol (Ara-CDP-DL-PTBA) is stable cytarabine conjugate of thioether phospholipid that is effective against a variety of transplantable tumours in mice.^[32,52,53] The conjugate is formulated in a micellar solution by sonication, in which the conjugate exists as micelles. Ara-CDP-DL-PTBA is active in the treatment of human colorectal cancer xenografts at a non-toxic dose level. $^{\left[53\right] }$

Table II here.

5.1 Cytarabine Ocfosfate

Cytarabine ocfosfate was designed and synthesised as a prodrug of cytarabine 5'-monophosphate by Kodama et al.^[62] and Saneyoshi et al.,^[63] demonstrated its activity against L1210 leukaemia in mice after oral administration. As a result of the introduction of a long-chain fatty acyl group at the 5'-position of cytarabine 5'-monophosphate, the drug shows higher lipophilicity. Koga et al.^[65] suggested that cytarabine ocfosfate may be useful for induction and/or postoperative chemotherapy on the basis of studies with colorectal adenocarcinoma xenografts in nude mice.

Ueda et al.^[66] reported a pharmacokinetic study of oral administration of cytarabine ocfosfate in six patients with haematological malignancies. After a single oral dose of cytarabine ocfosfate 500 mg/m², cytarabine ocfosfate, cytarabine and uracil arabinoside were detected in the plasma for 72 hours (table II). The plasma concentration-time curve of cytarabine ocfosfate could be fitted to a one-compartment model. The Cmax of cytarabine ocfosfate was 322 nmol/L, and the time to reach C_{max} (t_{max}) was 6.5 hours; the half-life was 32.0 hours. The plasma concentration of cytarabine increased slowly to a Cmax of 26.3 nmol/L (tmax 13.3 hours) after administration of cytarabine ocfosfate. For uracil arabinoside, Cmax, tmax and terminal halflife were 483 nmol/L, 23.6 hours and 19.6 hours, respectively. No cytarabine ocfosfate was detected in the urine, and only 8% of the administered dose was excreted in the urine as cytarabine and uracil arabinoside within 72 hours. During clinical use of cytarabine ocfosfate, macrocytic anaemia was observed, and some patients also developed megaloblastic change of their erythroblasts, suggesting a mild and persistent cytostatic effect. Cytarabine ocfosfate has been available in Japan from 1992, and phase I and phase II trials are now also under way in Germany, including patients with relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukaemia or lowgrade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.[67-70]

Table II. Pharmacokinetic parameters of cytarabine derivatives in humans

Derivatives	Dose	Route	Metabolite	AUC (μg • h/L)	C _{max} (µg/L)	t _{max} (h)	t1⁄2 (h)	Reference
Cytarabine ocfosfate	500 mg/m ²	Oral	Cytarabine ocfosfate	15 100	322	6.5	32	66
			Cytarabine	1730	26.3	13.3	31.9	
			Ara-U	32 100	483	23.6	19.6	
Enocitabine	700 mg/m ²	Intravenous	Enocitabine	429 800	173 400	1	1 (α), 4.28 (β)	59
			Cytarabine	858	102	1	1.37 (α), 11.2 (β)	
			Ara-U	62 620	3500	7		
	200mg	Intravenous	Enocitabine	85 500	20 000	2	0.37 (α), 5.27 (β)	58
			Cytarabine		80	2		
			Ara-U		600	4		

Ara-U = uracil arabinoside; AUC = area under the plasma concentration-time curve; C_{max} = peak plasma concentration; t_{max} = predicted time of C_{max} ; $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$ = elimination half-life; $t_{\frac{1}{2}\alpha}$ = initial-phase half-life; $t_{\frac{1}{2}\beta}$ = second-phase half-life.

5.2 Enocitabine

Enocitabine is resistant to deamination because it bears a highly lipophilic group at the 4-amino position of the cytosine moiety of cytarabine.^[56,57] Ueda et al.^[58] reported the pharmacokinetics of enocitabine in seven patients with acute leukaemia given enocitabine 200mg as a 90-minute intravenous infusion. The plasma disappearance curve of enocitabine was biphasic with $t_{1/2\alpha}$ and $t_{1/2\beta}$ of 0.37 and 5.27 hours, respectively (table II). The plasma concentration of uracil arabinoside increased to $603 \ \mu g/L$ at 4 hours after infusion, and it was over $129 \ \mu g/L$ for at least 22.5 hours after infusion. The plasma concentration of cytarabine was maintained over 0.08 mg/L for 8 hours after infusion.

Yoshida et al.^[59] reported the pharmacokinetics of enocitabine after a 60-minute intravenous infusion of 700 mg/m² in patients with acute leukaemia. The plasma concentration of enocitabine reached a maximum (173.4 mg/L) at the end of the infusion and then declined in a biphasic pattern with $t_{1/2\alpha}$ of 1 hour and $t_{1/2\beta}$ of 4.28 hours. The plasma concentration of cytarabine similarly reached a maximum (102.2 µg/L) at the end of the infusion and then declined with $t_{1/2\alpha}$ of 1.37 hours and $t_{1/2\beta}$ of 11.2 hours.

5.3 Alkyl Derivatives

Structure-activity relationships among alkyl cytarabine derivatives have been reported.^[91] Alkyl cytarabine analogues are less susceptible to hydrolysis and therefore more stable than the acyl analogues.^[43] NOAC is poorly deaminated to uracil arabinoside after incubation with human serum or mouse liver microsomes.^[44] The long-chain alkyl derivatives of cytarabine are highly lipophilic without amphiphilic properties and therefore exert no haemolytic toxicity in mice.^[40]

Pharmacological studies with NHAC and NOAC suggest different mechanisms of action from that of cytarabine. Cell uptake may be independent of nucleoside transporters. The formation of cytarabine 5'-triphosphate from NHAC is very low and will contribute little to the cytotoxicity of NHAC, whereas apoptosis of tumour cells was induced by NHAC at a rate 20 times higher than that by cytarabine.^[45-47] In human tumour xenografts in nude mice, NOAC showed a significantly better effect than cytarabine in various leukaemias, and an impressive antitumour activity against solid tumours.^[44]

6. Conclusion

Many studies have demonstrated the potential of new cytarabine formulations, including liposomes, emulsions and derivatives. To develop new formulations for sustained release and improved drug delivery, studies are required in humans. Some of these drugs are currently in clinical trials, and have been shown to improve delivery to target tumours, reduce toxicity and allow convenient administration. It is highly probable that medically useful and commercially viable cytarabine derivatives in addition to DepoCyt[™] will be available within a few years.

Acknowledgements

No sources of funding were used to assist in the preparation of this manuscript. There are no potential conflicts of interest directly relevant to the contents of this manuscript.

References

- Gahrton G. Treatment of acute leukemia: advances in chemotherapy, immunotherapy and bone marrow transplantation. Adv Cancer Res 1983; 40: 255-329
- Keating MJ, McCredie KB, Bodey GP, et al. Improved prospects for long-term survival in adults with acute myelogenous leukemia. JAMA 1982; 248: 2481-6
- Plunkett W, Gandhi V. Cellular pharmacodynamics of anticancer drugs. Semin Oncol 1993; 20: 50-63
- Blasberg R, Molnar P, Groothius D, et al. Concurrent measurements of blood flow and transcapillary transport in avian sarcoma virus-induced experimental brain tumors: implications for chemotherapy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1984; 231: 724-35
- Plagemann PG, Marz R, Wohlhueter RM. Transport and metabolism of deoxycytidine and 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine into cultured Novikoff rat hepatoma cells, relationship to phosphorylation, and regulation of triphosphate synthesis. Cancer Res 1978; 38: 978-89
- Wiley JS, Jones SP, Sawyer WH, et al. Cytosine arabinoside influx and nucleoside transport sites in acute leukemia. J Clin Invest 1982; 69: 479-89
- Graham FL, Whitmore GF. The effect of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine on growth, viability, and DNA synthesis of mouse L-cells. Cancer Res 1970; 30: 2627-35
- Plunkett W, Liliemark JO, Estey E, et al. Saturation of ara-CTP accumulation during high-dose ara-C therapy: pharmaco-

logic rationale for intermediate-dose ara-C. Semin Oncol 1987; 14 Suppl. 1: 159-66

- Chabner BA, Cytidine analogues. In: Chabner BA, Collins J, editors. Cancer chemotherapy: principles and practice. Philadelphia: JB Lippincott, 1990: 154-79
- Frei E, Bickers JN, Hewlett JS, et al. Dose schedule and antitumor studies of arabinosyl cytosine. Cancer Res 1969; 29: 1324-32
- Momparler RL. A model for the chemotherapy of acute leukemia with 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Cancer Res 1974; 34: 1775-87
- 12. Bolwell BJ, Classileth PA, Gale RP. High dose cytarabine: a review. Leukemia 1988; 2: 253-60
- Zimm S, Collins JM, Miser J, et al. Cytosine arabinoside cerebrospinal fluid kinetics. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1984; 35: 826-30
- Furner RL, Mellet LB, Herren TC. Influence of tetrahydrouridine on the phosphorylation of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine (ara-C) by enzymes from solid tumors in vitro. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1975; 194: 103-10
- 15. Kreis W, Chan K, Budman DR, et al. Effect of tetrahydrouridine on the clinical pharmacology of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine when both drugs are coinfused over three hours. Cancer Res 1988; 48: 1337-42
- Kobayashi T, Tsukagoshi S, Sakurai Y. Enhancement of the cancer chemotherapeutic effect of cytosine arabinoside entrapped in liposomes on mouse leukemia L-1210. Gann 1975; 66: 719-20
- Kobayashi T, Kataoka T, Tsukagoshi S, et al. Enhancement of anti-tumor activity of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine by encapsulation in liposomes. Int J Cancer 1977; 20: 581-7
- Rustum YM, Dave C, Mayhew E, et al. Role of liposome type and route of administration in the antitumor activity of liposome-entrapped 1- β-D -arabinofuranosylcytosine against mouse L1210 leukemia. Cancer Res 1979; 39: 1390-5
- Ganapathi R, Krishan A, Wodinsky I, et al. Effect of cholesterol content on antitumor activity and toxicity of liposome-encapsulated 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine in vivo. Cancer Res 1980; 40: 630-3
- 20. Ellens H, Rustum Y, Mayhew E, et al. Distribution and metabolism of liposome-encapsulated and free 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine (Ara-C) in dog and mouse tissues. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1982; 222: 324-30
- Funato K, Yoda R, Kiwada H. Contribution of complement system on destabilization of liposomes composed of hydrogenated egg phosphatidylcholine in fresh rat plasma. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1103: 198-204
- Allen TM, Hansen C, Martin F, et al. Liposomes containing synthetic lipid derivatives of poly(ethylene glycol) show prolonged circulation half-lives in vivo. Biochim Biophys Acta 1991; 1066: 29-36
- Allen TM, Mehra T, Hansen C, et al. Stealth liposomes: an improved sustained release system for 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Cancer Res 1992; 52: 2431-9
- 24. Kim S, Khattibi S, Howell SB. Prolongation of drug exposure in cerebrospinal fluid by encapsulation into depot form. Cancer Res 1993; 32: 1596-8
- Chamberlain MC, Khatibi S, Kim JC, et al. Treatment of leptomeningeal metastasis with intraventricular administration of depot cytarabine (DTC 101). A Phase I study. Arch Neurol 1993; 50: 261-4
- Kim S, Chatelut E, Kim JC, et al. Extended CSF cytarabine exposure following intrathecal administration of DTC 101. J Clin Oncol 1993; 11: 2186-93

- Chamberlain MC, Kormanik P, Howell SB, et al. Pharmacokinetics of intralumbar DTC-101 for the treatment of leptomeningeal metastases. Arch Neurol 1995; 52: 912-7
- Fukushima S, Juni K, Nakano M. Preparation of and drug release from W/O/W type double emulsions containing anticancer agents. Chem Pharm Bull 1983; 31: 4048-56
- Okochi H, Nakano M. Comparative study of two preparation methods of w/o/w emulsions: stirring and membrane emulsification. Chem Pharm Bull 1997; 45: 1323-6
- 30. Benoy CJ, Schneider R, Elson LA, et al. Enhancement of the cancer chemotherapeutic effect of the cell cycle phase specific agents methotrexate and cytosine arabinoside when given as a water-oil-water emulsion. Eur J Cancer 1974; 10: 27-33
- Rahman YE, Patel KR, Cerny EA, et al. The treatment of intravenously implanted Lewis lung carcinoma with two sustained release forms of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol 1984; 20: 1105-12
- Herrmann R, Berdel WE. Therapeutic activity of a thioetherlipid conjugate of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine in human colorectal cancer xenografts. Cancer Res 1992; 52: 1865-7
- Sehgal S, Rogers JA. Polymer-coated liposomes: improved liposome stability and release of cytosine arabinoside (Ara-C). J Microencapsul 1995; 12: 37-47
- Liu KR, Peyman GA, She SC, et al. Reduced toxicity of intravitreally injected liposome-encapsulated cytarabine. Ophthalmic Surg 1989; 20: 358-61
- 35. Hong F, Mayhew E. Therapy of central nervous system leukemia in mice by liposome-entrapped 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Cancer Res 1989; 49: 5097-102
- 36. Kim S, Kim DJ, Geyer MA, et al. Multivesicular liposomes containing 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine for slow release intrathecal therapy. Cancer Res 1987; 47: 3935-7
- Murry DJ, Blaney SM. Clinical pharmacology of encapsulated sustained-release cytarabine. Ann Pharmacother 2000; 34: 1173-8
- Glantz M, LaFollette S, Jaeckle K, et al. Randomized trial of a slow-release versus a standard formulation of cytarabine for the intrathecal treatment of lymphomatous meningitis. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 3110-6
- 39. Glantz MJ, Jaeckle KA, Chamberlain MC, et al. A randomized controlled trial comparing intrathecal sustained-release cytarabine (DepoCyt) to intrathecal methotrexate in patients with neoplastic meningitis from solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res 1999; 5: 3394-402
- Koller-Lucae SK, Schott H, Schwendener RA. Interactions with human blood in vitro and pharmacokinetic properties in mice of liposomal N⁴-octadecyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, a new anticancer drug. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1997; 282: 1572-80
- 41. Koller-Lucae SK, Schott H, Schwendener RA. Low density lipoprotein and liposome mediated uptake and cytotoxic effect of N⁴-octadecyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine in Daudi lymphoma cells. Br J Cancer 1999; 80: 1542-9
- Koller-Lucae SK, Suter MJ, Rentsch KM, et al. Metabolism of the new liposomal anticancer drug N⁴-octadecyl-1-β-Darabinofuranosylcytosine in mice. Drug Metab Dispos 1999; 27: 342-50
- Tsuruo T, Hori K, Iida H, et al. Enzyme catalyzation of the deacylation of N⁴-acyl derivatives of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine in the mouse liver microsome. Cancer Res 1982; 42: 2250-4

- Schwendener RA, Horber DH, Ottiger C, et al. Alkasar-18, 1-(β-D-arabinofuranosyl) -4- octadecylamino- 2(1H)-pyrimidin-one, N⁴-octadecyl-ara-C, NOAC. Drugs Future 1995; 20: 11-5
- 45. Horber DH, Schott H, Schwendener RA. Cellular pharmacology of a liposomal preparation of N⁴-hexadecyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, a lipophilic derivative of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Br J Cancer 1995; 71: 957-62
- 46. Horber DH, Ottiger C, Schott H, et al. Pharmacokinetic properties and interactions with blood components of N⁴-hexadecyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine (NHAC) incorporated into liposomes. J Pharm Pharmacol 1995; 47: 282-8
- Horber DH, Schott H, Schwendener RA. Cellular pharmacology of N⁴-hexadecyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine in the human leukemic cell lines K-562 and U-937. Cancer Chemother Pharm 1995; 36: 483-92
- Novotny L, Balazova E, Sandula J, et al. Treatment of leukemia L1210 and P388 by arabinosylcytosine-polysaccharide conjugates. Int J Cancer 1991; 47: 281-4
- Schwendener RA, Horber DH, Odermatt B, et al. Oral antitumour activity in murine L1210 leukaemia and pharmacological properties of liposome formulations of N⁴-alkyl derivatives of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1996; 122: 102-8
- Schwendener RA, Schott H. Lipophilic 1-β-D-arabinofuranosyl cytosine derivatives in liposomal formulations for oral and parenteral antileukemic therapy in the murine L1210 leukemia model. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1996; 122: 723-6
- 51. Schott H, Schwendener RA. Synthesis and structure-activity studies in vivo of liposomal phospholipid-N⁴-palmitoyl- and N⁴-hexadecyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine conjugates. Anticancer Drug Des 1996; 11: 451-62
- 52. Hong CI, Nechaev A, Kirisits AJ, et al. Nucleoside conjugates. 14. Synthesis and antitumor activity of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine conjugates of ether lipids with improved water solubility. J Med Chem 1995; 38: 1629-34
- 53. Hong CI, Bernacki RJ, Hui SW, et al. Formulation, stability, and antitumor activity of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine conjugate of thioether phospholipid. Cancer Res 1990; 50: 4401-6
- 54. Hori K, Tsuruo T, Tsukagoshi S, et al. Purification and characterization of an amidohydrolase for N⁴-long-chain fatty acyl derivatives of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine from mouse liver microsomes. Cancer Res 1984; 44: 1187-93
- Hori K, Tsuruo T, Naganuma K, et al. Antitumor effects and pharmacology of orally administered N⁴-palmitoyl-1-beta-Darabinofuranosylcytosine in mice. Cancer Res 1984; 44: 172-7
- Aoshima M, Tsukagoshi S, Sakurai Y, et al. Antitumor activities of newly synthesized N⁴-acyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Cancer Res 1976; 36: 2726-32
- Aoshima M, Tsukagoshi S, Sakurai Y, et al. N⁴-Behenoyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine as a potential new antitumor. Cancer Res 1977; 37: 2481-6
- Ueda T, Nakamura T, Ando S, et al. Pharmacokinetics of N⁴behenoyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine in patients with acute leukemia. Cancer Res 1983; 43: 3412-6
- Yoshida T, Kobayashi K, Okabe Y, et al. Plasma and leukemic cell pharmacokinetics of high-dose N⁴-behenoyl-1-β-Darabinofuranosylcytosine in acute leukemia patients. J Clin Pharmacol 1994; 34: 52-9
- Kimura K, Ohno R, Amaki I, et al. Treatment of acute myelogenous leukemia in adults with N⁴-behenoyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Cancer 1985; 56: 1913-7

- Hoshi A, Kanzawa F, Iigo M, et al. Effect and toxicity of combination treatment including cyclocytidine or cytosine arabinoside in L-1210 and sarcoma-180 systems. Gann 1975; 66: 539-46
- 62. Kodama K, Morozumi M, Saitoh K, et al. Antitumor activity and pharmacology of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine 5'stearylphosphate: an orally active derivative of 1-β-Darabinofuranosylcytosine. Jpn J Cancer Res 1989; 80: 679-85
- 63. Saneyoshi M, Morozumi M, Kodama K, et al. Synthetic nucleosides and nucleotides. XVI. Synthesis and biological evaluations of a series of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine 5'-alkyl or arylphosphates. Chem Pharm Bull 1980; 28: 2915-23
- 64. Higashigawa M, Hori H, Ohkubo T, et al. Deoxyribonucleoside triphosphate pools and Ara-CTP levels in P388 murine leukemic cells treated with 1-B-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine-5'-stearylphosphate which is a newly synthesized derivative of 1-B-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Med Oncol Tumor Pharmacother 1990; 7: 223-6
- 65. Koga K, Iizuka E, Sato A, et al. Characteristic antitumor activity of cytarabine ocfosfate against human colorectal adenocarcinoma xenografts in nude mice. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 1995; 36: 459-62
- 66. Ueda T, Kamiya K, Urasaki Y, et al. Clinical pharmacology of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine-5'-stearylphosphate, an orally administered long-acting derivative of low-dose 1-β-Darabinofuranosylcytosine. Cancer Res 1994; 54: 109-13
- 67. Kuhr T, Eisterer W, Apfelbeck U, et al. Treatment of patients with advanced chronic myelogenous leukemia with interferon-α-2b and continuous oral cytarabine ocfosfate (YNK01): a pilot study. Leuk Res 2000; 24: 583-7
- Braess J, Freund M, Hanauske A, et al. Oral cytarabine ocfosfate in acute myeloid leukemia and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma -phase I/II studies and pharmacokinetics. Leukemia 1998; 12: 1618-26
- Braess J, Kern W, Unterhalt M, et al. Response to cytarabine ocfosfate (YNK01) in a patient with chronic lymphocytic leukemia refractory to treatment with chlorambucil/prednisone, fludarabine, and prednimustine/mitoxantrone. Ann Hematol 1996; 73: 201-4
- Schleyer E, Braess J, Ramsauer B, et al. Pharmacokinetics of Ara-CMP-stearate (YNK01): phase I study of the oral Ara-C derivative. Leukemia 1995; 9: 1085-90
- Kanai T, Ichino M. Pyrimidine nucleosides. 6. Syntheses and anticancer activities of N⁴-substituted 2,2'-anhydronucleosides. J Med Chem 1974; 17: 1076-8
- 72. Rosowsky A, Kim SH, Ross J, et al. Lipophilic 5'-(alkyl phosphate) esters of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine and its N⁴⁻ acyl and 2,2'-anhydro-3'-O-acyl derivatives as potential prodrugs. J Med Chem 1982; 25: 171-8
- Kataoka T, Sakurai Y. Effect and mode of action of N⁴behenoyl-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Recent Results Cancer Res 1980; 70: 147-51
- 74. Oh-ishi J, Kataoka T, Tsukagoshi S, et al. Production of N⁴succinyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, a novel metabolite of N⁴-behenoyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine, in mice and its biological significance. Cancer Res 1981; 41: 2501-6
- Rubas W, Supersaxo A, Weder HG, et al. Treatment of murine L1210 lymphoid leukemia and melanoma B16 with lipophilic cytosine arabinoside prodrugs incorporated into unilamellar liposomes. Int J Cancer 1986; 37: 149-54
- Schwendener RA, Pestalozzi B, Berger S, et al. Treatment of acute myelogenous leukemia with liposomes containing N4oleyl-cytosine arabinoside. In: Lopez-Berenstein G, Fidler IJ,

editors. Liposomes in the therapy of infectious diseases and cancer. New York: Alan R Liss Inc., 1989: 95-105

- 77. Schwendener RA, Schott H. Treatment of L1210 murine leukemia with liposome-incorporated N4-hexadecyl-1-β-Darabinofuranosyl cytosine. Int J Cancer 1992; 51: 466-9
- Hashida M, Liao MH, Muranishi S, et al. Dosage form characteristics of microsphere-in-oil emulsion. II: Examination of some factors affecting lymphotropicity. Chem Pharm Bull 1980; 28: 1659-66
- Yoshioka T, Ikeuchi K, Hashida M, et al. Prolonged release of bleomycin from parenteral gelatin sphere-in-oil-in-water multiple emulsion. Chem Pharm Bull 1982; 30: 1408-15
- Kim S. Liposomes as carriers of cancer chemotherapy: current status and future prospects. Drugs 1993; 46: 618-38
- Hunt CA, Rustum YM, Mayhew E, et al. Retention of cytosine arabinoside in mouse lung following intravenous administration in liposomes of different size. Drug Metab Dispos 1979; 7: 124-8
- Richardson VJ, Curt GA, Ryman BE, et al. Liposomally trapped AraCTP to overcome AraC resistance in a murine lymphoma in vitro. Br J Cancer 1982; 45: 559-64
- Ganapathi R, Krishan A, Wodinsky I, et al. Effect of cholesterol content on antitumor activity and toxicity of liposome-encapsulated 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine in vivo. Cancer Res 1980; 40: 630-3
- Tokunaga Y, Iwasa T, Fujisaki J, et al. Liposomal sustained-release delivery systems for intravenous injection V. Biological disposition of liposome-entrapped lipophilic prodrug of 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine. Chem Pharm Bull 1988; 36: 4060-7

- 85. Tokunaga Y, Iwasa T, Fujisaki J, et al. Liposomal sustainedrelease delivery systems for intravenous injection. IV. Antitumor activity of newly synthesized lipophilic 1-β-Darabinofuranosylcytosine prodrug-bearing liposomes. Chem Pharm Bull 1988; 36: 3574-83
- 86. Nishikawa M, Kamijo A, Fujita T, et al. Synthesis and pharmacokinetics of a new liver-specific carrier, glycosylated carboxymethyl-dextran, and its application to drug targeting. Pharm Res 1993; 10: 1253-61
- Shapiro WR, Posner JB, Ushio Y, et al. Treatment of meningeal neoplasms. Cancer Treat Rep 1977; 61: 733-43
- Balis FM, Poplack DG. Central nervous system pharmacology of antileukemic drugs. Am J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 1989; 11: 74-86
- Zimm S, Collins JM, Miser J, et al. Cytosine arabinoside cerebrospinal fluid kinetics. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1984; 35: 826-30
- Kim S, Howell SB. Multivesicular liposomes containing cytarabine entrapped in the presence of hydrochloric acid for intracavitary chemotherapy. Cancer Treat Rep 1987; 71: 705-11
- Schwendener RA, Horber DH, Ottiger C, et al. Preclinical properties of N⁴-hexadecyl- and N4-octadecyl-1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine in liposomal preparations. J Liposome Res 1995; 5: 27-47

Correspondence and offprints: *Akinobu Hamada*, Department of Pharmacy, School of Medicine, Kumamoto University, 1-1-1 Honjo, Kumamoto 860-8556, Japan. E-mail: ahamada@kaiju.medic.kumamoto-u.ac.jp